

INDIAN SOCIETY FOR PROBABILITY AND STATISTICS (ISPS)

No. 3-1-90/2, 2nd Cross East, Vidhyanagar Colony, Tirupati-517 502, Andhra Pradesh e-mail- 1980isps@gmail.com | website: www.isps.org.in

INDIAN SOCIETY FOR PROBABILITY AND STATISTICS

CONSTITUTION

ARTICLE I: NAME

This organization shall be named INDIAN SOCIETY FOR PROBABILITY AND STATISTICS

ARTICLE II: Office

The address of the Registered Office of the Society is: No. 3-1-90/2, 2nd Cross East, Vidhyanagar Colony, Tirupati-517 502, Andhra Pradesh

ARTICLE III: OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the Society shall be the advancement of, the conducting of research in, the study of, the promotion and propagation of knowledge in Statistics and Probability through exchange of information, the establishment and maintenance *of* professional and academic standards of work known as Statistics, the improvement of methods and techniques of Statistics, publishing professional journals and conducting professional examinations as elaborated under.

- 1. To provide a forum for discussion on all matters concerning the development and application of Statistics and Probability in all fields of human Endeavour.
- 2. To establish, maintain, control, manage the Executive committee, and to assist the Statisticians throughout the country and from time to time determine the rights, privileges, obligations and duties of such Statisticians.
- 3. To assist technically, financially or otherwise the growth and development of the science and practice of Statistics
 - By conducting and/or participating in seminars, workshops, discussions, lectures, conferences, public meetings, film exhibitions, radio, television and any other electronic media;
 - By teaching and organizing formalized instruction programmes, conducting examinations and/or advising on the content of papers for examination on the subject;
- iii. By conferring titles, diplomas, certificates and other academic and professional qualifications;

- iv. By sponsoring, instituting or awarding research scholarship, fellowship, prizes and training schemes;
- v. To prepare, edit, print, publish, circulate, acquire, sell or otherwise distribute such journals, periodicals, books, papers, leaflets, films, and mechanical and other models and equipment, as the Society may think desirable for the promotion of its objectives;
- vi. To establish, form and maintain office, libraries, exhibitions, collections and displays of literature, statistics, exhibits and information relating to Statistics and allied disciplines;
- vii. Tto offer and carry out advisory and consultancy services to industry, Government, educational and all other institutions engaged in human endeavour, to achieve benefits from optimization of resource utilization and further the boundaries of Statistics and allied sciences.
- viii. To purchase, take on lease or on exchange, hire or otherwise acquire propertity, movable or immovable, and any rights or privileges which may be deemed necessary or convenient for the purposes of the Society, and to improve, develop, manage, sell, lease, mortgage, dispose of or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property of the Society;
 - ix. To construct, maintain or alter any building or works necessary or convenient for the purposes of the Society;
 - x. To accept grants, donations, endowment, gift or legacy in favour of the Society whether subject or not to any special trusts or conditions for the furtherance of any of the objectives of the Society;
 - xi. To borrow or raise money for the purposes of the Society in such a manner as may from time to time be decided.
- xii. To prescribe, demand and receive fees, fines and other charges;
- xiii. To invest the money of the Society, not immediately required, in such securities and in such manner as may from time to time be decided;
- xiv. To be affiliated to any other institution, society or association having objectives wholly or in part similar to any of those of the Society. and to co-operate with any person or persons in pursuance of such objectives;
- xv. To do any other work either alone or with others and either as Principals, Agents, Trustees or otherwise as may be conducive to the attainment of the objects of the Society.
- 4. The income and property of the Society shall be utilised only for the purpose of promotion of the objectives of the Society as set forth above and no portion thereof

shall be paid or transferred directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise howsoever by way of profit to the members of the Society. This would identify the Indian Society for Probability and Statistics as being a **non-profiteering** body.

5. Provided that nothing herein shall prevent the payment, in good of reasonable and proper remuneration, as decided by the Executive committee, to officer or servant or member of the Society, in return for any service actually rendered to the Society but that no officer or any other member of the Executive Committee shall be paid except repayment of outof-pocket expenses and other reasonable expenses incurred for the Society as decided by the Executive committee.

ARTICLE IV: MEMBERSHIP

1. Any person interested in becoming a member shall, before he can do so, sign and deliver to the Society an application for admission to membership, addressed to the Secretary or his designated representative, in such form as the Executive committee may from time to time decide and such application shall be accompanied by the appropriate dues as defined in the Bye-laws of the Society. However, a person will become a member only if his/her application is approved by the Executive committee or by the President / Secretary authorized by the executive committee to do so.

ARTICLE V: OFFICE BEARERS

- 1. Office Bearers and Executive committee of the Society shall be in good standing for at least five years as life Members of the Society.
- 2. The office bearers of the Society will be-

| a) President | One |
|--------------------|---------------------------------|
| b)Vice-President | Two |
| c) Secretary | One |
| d) Joint Secretary | One |
| e) Treasurer | One |
| f)Council Members | Eight(5 Elected and 3 Co-opted) |
| G)Hon. President | One (EC Nominee) |

- 3. function The President shall the Constitutional of the Society as head performing all duties required by the Constitution and Bye-laws, or, if not there, as specified by the Executive committee..
- 4. The Vice-Presidents of the Society will assist and advise the President in all matters in furtherance of the objectives of the Society as provided in the Constitution. In the

absence of the President, a Vice-President present in a Executive committee meeting will preside over the meeting while in such an event if more than one Vice-President is present, one of them will be elected to preside over the meeting by the members present.

- 5. The Secretary shall be responsible for observance of all provisions in this Constitution, Bye-laws and implementation of all resolutions adopted by executive committee.
- 6. The Treasurer will carryout his/her duties keeping in view the financial health of the Society in all aspects and shall function in a manner that will assist the President / Secretary in furthering the objectives of the Society as required by this Constitution, Bye-laws and decisions of the Executive committee.

7. The roles and responsibilities of the HONORARY PRESIDENT:

The Honorary President is to be selected/nominated by President, on advice of EC for a period of five years, from among the previous Executive members of ISPS.

The Honorary President of the Society shall be an ex-officio member of the Executive council and will be responsible for the day to day activities of the Society in concurrence with the President of the Society.

The Honorary President shall be responsible for observance of all provisions in this Constitution and implementation of all resolutions adopted by the Executive Council.

The Honorary President will manage the finances inclusive of, among others, preparation of annual budget and audited statement of accounts of the Society, in consultation with the President and Secretary.

The Honorary President will discuss with the persons for the future venues of ISPS national meeting, the functioning of existing conferences and will work towards developing consistent policy in national conferences and suggest the President to take decisions of meetings, conferences and other events of the society in concurrence with EC.

The Honorary President is authorized to do the activities of the society include possible execution of different Endowment Lectures, processes for different types of awards, conduct of research/academic competitions etc.

On the direction of the President the Honorary President Will look for possibilities of new Publications of the society, try to increase the membership with the society, liaison with funding agencies and, other corporate entities for fund raising associate with the Editor in chief to publish the JISPS regularly, and increasing propagation of ISPS activities.

ARTICLE VI : EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

- 1. All office bearers of the Society shall be life members of the Society in good standing for at least five years
- 2. The Executive committee shall manage the affairs of the Society and shall call meetings, lay down publication policies, invest and administer the funds of the Society and approve the appointment of such committees as may be required from time to time.
- 3. The elected office bearers in the office of the Society, the immediate Past-President (unless resigned or deceased), President, secretary, Two vice Presidents, Treasurer, Joint secretary and other elected members shall constitute the executive committee of the Society. The web master is ex-office member of the executive committee.
- 4. The elected executive committee shall have the right to co-opt up to three members in the executive committee to balance the representation from each region of the country. It will also nominate a life member as web master to maintain and look after the updates of the society web site.
- 5. The President of the society can invite past presidents of the society or any other person as special invitee to the executive committee meeting depending upon the circumstances.

ARTICLE VII: ELECTION AND TENURE OF OFFICE BEARERS AND OTHER MEMBERS OF THE CENTRAL COUNCIL

- 1.The President shall appoint a Nominating Committee comprising three Senior Members / Fellows in good standing, with the approval of the executive committee, either through a meeting so held or by circulation, at least 100 days prior to the Annual General Meeting to be held in the year in which the election is due. The Nominating Committee shall be authorized to nominate a life member of at least 10 years standing in the society as returning officer.
- 2. The President of the Society, with the approval of the Executive committee, will appoint a Returning Officer at least 90 days prior to the AGM for conducting the election to the posts.
- 3. The returning officer shall seek nominations for one or more candidates for each office to be filled, keeping in mind the requirement as stipulated in the Constitution or its byelaws by circulating the election notification to all members of the society Each nomination

paper shall bear the signature of the nominee(s), proposer and seconder. For the **Chief Editor** post the candidate Nominated by the Executive Committee.

- 4. All nomination papers are to be received by the Returning Officer. In case of insufficient/ no nomination for any post(s) of executive committee, the out going executive committee make such nomination to the in coming executive committee.
- 5. Not less than 60 days before the next annual meeting, the returning officer shall mail to each eligible member a ballot form as finalized by the Returning Officer, containing the panel of the candidates. Every life member, other than student members, who does not have any outstanding dues to the Society as on 30th June of the year in which the election is due will be eligible to vote.
- 6. No ballot shall be counted unless signed by a qualified voter to indicate his/her choice and received by the Returning Officer in a sealed envelope bearing the voter's name not less 25 days before the next annual meeting.
- 7.The ballots shall be counted by tellers appointed by the Returning Officer and the result of the tally shall be announced at the next annual meeting, at which time the candidates receiving the largest number of votes for the office to be filled shall be declared elected. In the event of a tie vote for any office, the returning officer will be authorized to put the casting-vote and the panel thus elected will be announced at the next Annual Meeting.
- 8. The tenure of the office bearers and the members of the executive committee shall be for a period of two calendar years (1st January to 31st December).
- 9. The post of the President, if falls vacant before the expiry of the term, shall be held by one of the Vice-Presidents to be elected by the executive committee members as existing at the time the vacancy occurred. In case of vacancies in the posts of Vice-Presidents and Council members, no action shall be taken to fill these vacancies the next scheduled term of elections. However, in case of vacancies caused in the post of the Secretary and Treasurer the executive committee shall either fill in the vacancies for the remaining period of the term from among the elected executive members or would take such steps as necessary to fill in the vacancies through regular ballot.
- 10. Schedule of Election : In terms of the Clause 1, Article-VII, the following schedule is to be observed for conducting the election of the All dates computed prior that of **AGM** for are to be the year in which the election is due.

| Event | Time Schedule |
|--|-------------------|
| i) Selection of Nomination Committee | At least 4 Months |
| ii) Selection of Returning Officer | At least 90 days |
| iii) Issue of nomination papers | At least 120 days |
| iv) Receipt of nomination papers | At least 90 days |
| v) Withdrawal of nomination | At least 75 days |
| vi) Finalization of panel of nominees | At least 73 days |
| vii) Issue of ballot papers | At least 70 days |
| viii) Receipt of ballot papers from voters | At least 25 days |
| ix) Declaration of result | At least 20 days |

ARTICLE IX: ACCOUNTS

- 1. The accounting period for the Society shall extend from 1st January to 31st December.
- 2. True account shall be kept of the sums of money received and expended by the Society, and the matters in respect of which such receipts and expenditures take place and the credits and liabilities of the Society, and subject to any reasonable restrictions as to the time and manner of inspecting the same that may be imposed in accordance with the regulations of the Society for the time being in force, shall be open to the inspection of the members with voting rights. Once at least in every year the accounts of the Society shall be examined and correctness of the income and expenditure account and balance sheet ascertained by one or more properly qualified auditor or auditors.
- 3. To augment the income of the ISPS, the Society shall invest in lucrative schemes in Nationalized banks.

ARTICLE X: CHANGES IN THE CONSTITUTION

- 1. No article shall be added to this constitution and no part shall be amended or annulled expect by formal written proposal, followed by opportunity for discussion at the business session of any regularly scheduled meeting of the Society and by a letter ballot, except as noted in section 5 below.
- 2 . Proposal of a change may be made by the Executive committee or by a petition to the President signed by at least fifty members of the Society in good standing with voting rights.
- 3. The Secretary shall distribute copies of the proposed change

- to all members of the Society not less than three weeks before any regularly scheduled meeting of the Society, and opportunity shall be given to the members of the Society for discussion at the business session of the meeting.
- Not more than eight weeks after this meeting, the Secretary shall distribute copies of the proposed change, an explanation of the purposes of the change, ballot forms and the effective date of the change, if approved, to all eligible members of the Society.
- 5. A change proposed by the executive committee may, at its discretion, be -submitted to the members with voting rights, with modifications made in the light of the discussion at the regularly scheduled meeting of executive committee. A change proposed by petition, shall be submitted in the original form, but the executive committee shall have the right to submit an amendment to the change in the light of the discussion at the regularly scheduled meeting of the executive committee.
- 7. The adoption of the proposed change shall require the affirmative votes of not fewer than two-thirds of the Members in the general body meeting or Twenty members whichever is smaller.
- 8. The result of the ballot shall be announced to the members by the Secretary and, if approved, the change shall become effective at the date previously stipulated by the executive committee.

ARTICLE XI: BYE-LAWS

- 1. Bye-laws may be adopted, annulled, or amended by letter ballot in the manner set forth in Article X for changes in the constitution, or by the affirmative votes of a majority of the Members present at a session of a meeting of the Society.
- such action shall taken session 2. No be at a of meeting Society unless the change in the Bye-laws is proposed by executive committee or by a written request of at least fifty Members with voting rights nor unless notice of the proposed change shall have .each been mailed by the Secretary to member less than before the meeting at which the change is offered for three weeks discussion.

ARTICLE XII: COMMITTEES

1. Committees with specific terms of reference shall be appointed, as required, by the President with the approval of the executive committee.

- 2. The committees appointed by the President shall conduct their business in accordance with such rules as the executive committee may adopt for their guidance.
- 3. The executive committee may by a majority decision appoint various sub committees from time to time and for such purposes as it may deem fit. Student-members may be co-opted into such sub-committees.

ARTICLE XIII: MEETINGS

- 1. There shall be an Annual General Meeting of the Society at the time of the Annual Convention of the Society. In case the annual convention is not held in any year, the Annual General Meeting of the Society will be held in any other convenient place at the Annual General Meeting.
- 2. Approving of accounts, changes in the constitution and bye-laws which have been approved by the executive committee must be approved with 2/3 rd majority of the members present.
- 3. Five executive committee members personally present at a meeting of executive committee shall constitute a quorum. In exceptional circumstances resolutions can be adopted circulation among all executive committee members.
- 4.Twenty members in good standing with voting rights personally present at the Annual General Meeting shall constitute a quorum, if "•• the AGM is dissolved for lack of quorum, it will be reconvened within six months at any location selected by the executive committee with at least three weeks notice and no quorum will be necessary for such meeting.

ARTICLE XIV: WINDING UP/ DISSOLUTION OF THE SOCIETY

1. Any 75 % members of the Society (other than student members and institutional members) or any 8 members of the executive committee may suggest the dissolution of the Society to the Secretary indicating such reason(s) as are found appropriate for such dissolution.

2The Secretary shall put the same as an agenda item for a executive committee meeting to be held not later than three months after the same had been received. After due consideration by the executive committee, the Secretary shall then communicate to all members of the Society, the resolution for dissolution and give one month's notice for an extra-ordinary General Body Meeting to be held at any location decided by the executive committee.

3. Any funds/property standing as available, after meeting all the due expense of the Society till the date of actual dissolution shall be transferred to such an organization/institution involved in teaching/ research/ allied activities in Statistics for

minimum period of five years previous to the date of dissolution of ISPS with due approval from the general body meeting so held in connection with the dissolution.

BYLAWS

ARTICLE I : CATEGORIES OF MEMBERS AND THEIR VOTING RIGHTS

- 1. The member referred to in the constitution and the bye-laws of ISPS will be one of the two categories viz. (A) Individual or (B) Institutional.
- A. Individual Members will be of the four types:
 - i) Fellow
 - ii) Life Member
 - iii) Annual Member
 - iv) Student Member
- i) Fellow: A Senior Member will be considered for Fellowship by the Council of ISPS, if the following conditions are fulfilled..
 - (a) He/She is a life member of ISPS for at least ten years standing.
 - (b) He/She should have made outstanding contributions towards the promotion and development of Statistics and Probability.
 - (c) He/She should have no financial dues in respect of ISPS at the time of his / her nomination.
 - (d) His/Her nomination should have been duly proposed and seconded by Five life members of at least five years standing and two Fellows of ISPS in the prescribed form, or initiated by the executive committee of ISPS.
 - (e) His/Her Fellowship shall be ratified at the AGM, after acceptance by the executive committee.
 - (f) All past presidents of the society are Fellows of ISPS automatically.
 - (g) Not more than 40 (Forty) Fellows would be on the rolls or" the Society at a point of time.
- ii) Life member: Any existing member of any category may become a Life Member or any person eligible to be a member in any category may become a Life Member on payment of usual dues
- iii) Member: An individual can acquire Membership of the Society provided:
 - (a) He/She files an application in the prescribed membership application form. (ref. Appendix)
 - (b) He/She is at least a graduate from a recognized University/ Institution.
 - (c) He/She is proposed by a Fellow/ life Member/ Member of the Society.
- iv) Student Member: An Individual shall be enrolled as a Student Member if:

- (i) He/She is a student at a level above Higher Secondary standard and continues to be a student in a recognised academic institution / Professional Body or is registered as a student in the professional course or any other course of Statistics.
- (ii) He/She files an application in the prescribed membership application form. (ref. Appendix)
- B. Institutional Member: All institutions /Corporate Organizations interested in the promotion of Statistics may enroll themselves as Institutional Members.

Institutional members will be of two categories:

- (i) Permanent Institutional Members (Donars).
- (ii) Institutional Members.
- 2. Except for Fellow Members, the executive committee shall be the deciding authority as to which category of membership a particular member shall belong to and the decision of the executive committee shall be final.
- 3. All members in good standing with the exception of Student and Institutional members will have one vote each. Student/Institutional Members are not eligible to vote.

ARTICLE II: DUES OF MEMBERS

- 1. The membership dues of different categories of members of the Society are specified in Schedule A subject to such variation as may be decided from time to time by the Central Council of the Society. This amount should be sent to the Treasurer of the Society through Demand Draft drawn infavour of "Indian Society for Probability and Statistics" payable at Tirupati.
- 2. The dues of a new member shall be the full annual dues even if he becomes a member at any time of the year.
- 3. Dues will have to be paid within two months of the beginning of a calendar year. Reminders will be sent to those members who fail to pay their dues within the above stipulated period if any member's dues are not paid within four months from the beginning of the calendar war. The executive committee shall decide *on* further measures to be taken in this regard.

ARTICLE III: SEVERANCE OF MEMBERSHIP

- 1. A member in good standing may resign by submitting a written resignation to the Secretary. Subject to approval of the executive committee, a resigned member may resume his membership upon payment of current dues.
- 2. If the dues of any member remain unpaid beyond a reasonable time, say one calendar year, his name shall be removed from the membership rolls after due notice.

3. A member whose conduct is deemed by the executive committee of the interests and objectives of the Society may be dropped from the membership and any office held by him, by a two-third vote of the total membership of the executive committee has been notified at least twenty days in advance of he meeting as to the charges put against him, and has been given 2 fair opportunity to answer the charges in person, or in writing, or by an authorized representative.

ARTICLE IV: PUBLICATIONS

- 1. All life members, except student members, who have paid their dues in full shall be entitled to receive the journal of the Society.
- 2. The executive committee shall be empowered to fix the terms under which members shall receive other publications of the Society and under which non-members of the Society may receive material published by the Society.
- 3. The Chief Editor can constitute the editorial board consisting of advisory committee and area editors in approval from the President of the society.
- 4. The Chief Editor in consultation with the editorial board will take all decision regarding publication of the journal, Periodicity, special issues and its circulation.
- Central Council may sanction suitable financial annually the Editorial Board of Journal of ISPS to meet an expenses relating to the editorial office and call for accounts and when it as and maintain consolidated accounts along with that of the Society which shall be presented as a statutory requirement.

ARTICLE V: AFFILIATIONS

- 1. The ISPS may affiliate with other organizations whose purposes are consistent with Article III of the Constitution of the Society.
- 2. The Society may co-operate with other professional societies in such ways as may be consistent with the Constitution, Bye-laws, and rules of standing Committees of the Society. Such co-operation may include reciprocal reductions in dues.

ARITICLE VI: CONVENTIONS & CONFERENCES

- Conventions & Conferences to be organized under the auspices of the ISPS are categorized as under:
- a) Annual Convention organized by ISPS to be hosted by any institution so authorized by ISPS.
- b) International Conferences.

- c) Regional Conferences.
- d) Seminar/ Work shops etc.
- 2. In respect of events at ARTICLE-IX Section (a) & (b). The executive committee of ISPS shall be the authority to decide all matters relating to the holding of such events including details regarding the organizational and structural requirements. The Executive committee shall also have control over the financial aspects with the right to review the same and ask for reports from time to time and issue guidelines as may be found necessary. It will be one of the responsibilities of the Institution / organizing such events to submit a full report to the executive committee after the event is held along with an audited accounts, within a reasonable time as stipulated by the executive committee.
- 3. As regards events at ARTICLE-IX Section- i(c) & (d), there will be enough flexibility, but in case of regional conferences, approval of the executive committee shall be obtained in advance to avoid possible overlap.

ARTICLE VII: NOTICES

- 1. A notice may be served by the Society upon an\ member either personally or by sending it through the post addressed to such a member at his her registered address as appearing in the Directory of Members.
- 2. Any notice, if served by post, shall be deemed to have been served on the seventh day following that on which the letter containing the same is put into the post and in proving such a service it shall be sufficient to prove that the letter containing the notice was properly addressed and put into the post-office as a letter.

SCHEDULE A: DUES OF MEMBERS

(i) Member Rs. 300/- per annum

(ii) Student Member Rs. 600/- for three years

(iii) Life Member (Below 60 years)Rs. 3000/- One time

(Above 60 \ears) Rs. 1500/- Onetime

(iv) Institutional Member Rs. 4000/- per annum

(v) Permanent Institutional Member Rs. 50.000/- One time

Those existing Fellows/life Members, need not pay the balance of amount.